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CHARGE OF DISCRIMINATION

I. JURISDICTION

On or about June 27, 2005, Complainants South Suburban Housing Center
(“SSHC”) and Joan Stover, aggrieved persons, timely filed verified complaints with the
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), alleging that
Respondents The Hillebold Family Trust (“Respondent Trust”), John Hillebold, as
Trustee, and Rosemary Hillebold, individually and as Trustee (collectively
“Respondents”), discriminated against Complainant Joan Stover based on her African-
American boyfriend’s race and discriminated against Complainant SSHC’s fair housing
testers based on Complainant SSHC’s testers’ race in violation of the Fair Housing Act,
as amended in 1988, 42 U.S.C. 88 3601 et seq. (the "Act"). On or around November 5,
2005, the complaints were amended to add The Hillebold Family Trust and John
Hillebold, Trustee, as Respondents.

The Act authorizes the issuance of a Charge of Discrimination on behalf of an
aggrieved person following an investigation and a determination that reasonable cause
exists to believe that a discriminatory housing practice has occurred. 42 U.S.C.
8 3610(9)(1) and (2). The Secretary has delegated to the General Counsel (54 Fed. Reg.
13121), who has redelegated to the Regional Counsel (67 Fed. Reg 44234), the authority
to issue such a charge, following a determination of reasonable cause by the Assistant
Secretary for Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity or his or her designee.



The Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity Region V Director, on behalf
of the Assistant Secretary for Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity, has determined that
reasonable cause exists to believe that discriminatory housing practices have occurred in
this case based on race, and has authorized and directed the issuance of this Charge of
Discrimination.

1. SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS IN SUPPORT OF THIS CHARGE OF
DISCRIMINATION

Based on HUD’s investigation of the allegations contained in the aforementioned
complaints, and the aforementioned Determination of Reasonable Cause," Respondents
are charged with violations of the Act, specifically, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a)-(d) of the Act as
follows:

1. Itis unlawful to refuse to sell or rent after the making of a bona fide offer, or to refuse
to negotiate for the sale or rental of, or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a
dwelling to any person because of race. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a).

2. Itis unlawful to discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges
of the rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection
therewith, because of race. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b).

3. It is unlawful to make, print or publish, or cause to be made, printed, or published,
any notice, statement, or advertisement with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling
that indicates any preference, limitation, or discrimination based on race, or an
intention to make any such preference, limitation, or discrimination. 42 U.S.C. §
3604(c).

4. 1t is unlawful to represent to any person because of race that any dwelling is not
available for inspection, sale or rental when such dwelling is in fact so available. 42
U.S.C. § 3604(d).

5. The subject property, located at 1802 Heatherway Lane, in New Lenox, lllinois
(“subject property”), is a twelve-unit apartment building with six units on each floor.
Respondent Trust has owned the subject property since around April 2002.
Respondents John and Rosemary Hillebold, husband and wife, are the Trustees of
Respondent Trust. At all relevant times to this Charge, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold managed the subject property.

6. Complainant Joan Stover (“Stover”), is a white female.

! The Determination found reasonable cause to believe that Respondents discriminated against
Complainant Stover in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a)-(c), but found no reasonable cause to believe
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold discriminated against Complainant Stover in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
3617.
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Complainant South Suburban Housing Center (“SSHC”) is a non-profit Illinois
corporation. SSHC’s purpose is to promote equal opportunity in housing in the
Southern suburbs and in Northwest Indiana. In support of its efforts to promote
equal opportunity in housing, SSHC engages in activities to identify barriers to fair
housing, to counteract and eliminate discriminatory housing practices and to protect
the rights of its members and constituents to enjoy the benefits of living in an
integrated community. As part of its fair housing enforcement efforts, Complainant
SSHC conducts fair housing “tests” to determine whether housing providers engage
in discriminatory housing practices.

On or about November 1, 1994, Complainant Stover moved into apartment 2E, a two-
bedroom unit located at the subject property. At the time Complainant Stover moved
into the unit, her rent was $550 per month.

HUD’s investigation revealed that most of the tenants at the subject property are
long-term tenants that rarely experienced a rent increase. The investigation further
revealed that two long term tenants experienced only one rental increase of $20 per
month after having resided in their respective units for six and eight years,
respectively.

Similarly, Complainant Stover’s rent remained at $550 per month until in or around
November 2000 when she had lived at the subject property for approximately five
years. At that time, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold increased Complainant Stover’s
rent by $25 per month.

Sometime during the first half of Complainant Stover’s tenancy at the subject
property, Complainant Stover’s ex-fiancé (white) moved in with Complainant Stover
for approximately one year. During that one-year period, Respondents did not
increase Complainant Stover’s rent for having an additional roommate.

Prior to 2004, Complainant Stover and Respondent Rosemary Hillebold enjoyed a
pleasant relationship. Prior to 2004, all requests for repairs for Complainant Stover’s
unit were done in a timely manner and were completed by Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold’s son, Ronald Welch, who served as the maintenance man for the building
and also resided at the subject property.

In June 2004, Complainant Stover and Respondent Rosemary Hillebold discussed
Complainant Stover renewing her lease, which expired on October 31, 2004. At that
time, Complainant Stover requested permission to paint her unit. During the
conversation, Complainant Stover stressed that she did not want her unit painted if it
would cause an increase in her monthly rent. In response, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold assured Complainant Stover that her rent would not increase.

In mid-July 2004, Complainant Stover’s boyfriend, Turmond Durden (“Durden”),
who is African-American, moved into Complainant Stover’s unit at the subject

property.
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In August 2004, Complainant Stover’s stove was not working properly. Mr. Durden
went to Mr. Welch’s unit to request that the stove be repaired. After similar repeated
requests for repairs, Complainant Stover’s stove was never repaired by Mr. Welch.

Shortly thereafter, upon information and belief, on or about September 4, 2004,
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold drove to Complainant Stover’s parents’ home and
spoke with Complainant Stover’s mother, Barbara Stover, who was outside doing
yard work. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed Barbara Stover that neighbors
had been complaining about loud noise coming from her daughter’s apartment and
from the parking lot. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold continued by informing
Barbara Stover that Mr. Durden lived with Complainant Stover.

Later that evening, upset by the conversation referenced in paragraph 16,
Complainant Stover’s parents visited Complainant Stover at her apartment. During
their visit, Complainant Stover’s parents informed her that Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold drove to their home that day and told Mrs. Stover about the problems she
was having with Complainant Stover. Her parents then informed her that if she did
not break up with Mr. Durden, that Respondent Rosemary Hillebold would throw her
out of the apartment.

Upon information and belief, Complainant Stover’s parents opposed their daughter
dating Mr. Durden because of his race. Complainant Stover’s father even made a
threat against Mr. Durden. At one point, Complainant Stover informed her parents
that she was going to call the police if they did not leave her apartment. Eventually,
Complainant Stover’s parents left. Mr. Durden was not home when Complainant
Stover’s parents visited their apartment.

After the incident with her parents, Complainant Stover decided that it might be best
for her and Mr. Durden to move from the subject property and find other housing. As
a result, because Complainant Stover was too emotional to call Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold, Mr. Durden called Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. When Mr. Durden
called, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold refused to speak with him because he was not
a tenant and insisted that she speak with Complainant Stover. Complainant Stover
spoke with Respondent Rosemary Hillebold and asked to be put on a month-to-month
lease until she found another place to live. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold verbally
agreed to allow Complainant Stover to remain in the unit on a month-to-month lease.

In or around October 2004, Respondents increased Complainant Stover’s rent by $50,
to $625 a month. In or around November 2004, Respondents increased Complainant
Stover’s rent again by $50, to $675. The investigation revealed that the only other
tenant to have experienced such a dramatic increase in rent was a tenant who
transferred from a smaller unit at the subject property to a larger unit with access to a
garage. The tenant’s rent increased by $100, from $700 to $800 after the transfer.
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Respondent Rosemary Hillebold contends that Complainant Stover’s rent was
increased to cover utility costs associated with having a roommate move into her unit.

Respondent Rosemary Hillebold admitted that she did not raise Complainant Stover’s
rent in the past when Complainant Stover’s ex-fiancé lived with Complainant Stover.

In January 2005, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold visited Complainant Stover’s
apartment and asked Complainant Stover if she had found a new apartment.
Complainant Stover responded that she had not found anything yet, as she had
stopped looking for an apartment during the holiday season and needed more time to
locate housing. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold then stated, “You need to find
something as soon as possible.” Respondent Rosemary Hillebold continued by stating
that she could not show units at the building when Mr. Durden was around and that
she had to wait until his truck was gone. During the conversation, Complainant
Stover asked Respondent Rosemary Hillebold if she could renew her lease and stay in
her unit. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold stated “no.”

During the above conversation, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed
Complainant Stover that she had received complaints of loud music coming from the
parking lot and implied that the tenants in the building were forcing Respondents to
get rid of Complainant Stover and Mr. Durden.

Complainant Stover denies neighbors complained about noise. Until the above
conversation, at no time did Respondents indicate that there were noise complaints
about Complainant Stover from tenants in the building.

HUD’s investigation revealed that at all times relevant to this Charge, Complainant
Stover’s next-door neighbors, Jason and Missy Rain,? (“the Rains”) shared a
common apartment wall with Complainant Stover. The investigation revealed that
during their tenancy, the Rains did not hear any loud music, arguing, or noise coming
from Complainant Stover’s apartment. However, the Rains did witness, on one
occasion, Mr. Welch attempting to calm down the neighbor in the apartment across
the hall from the Rains’ unit due to a disturbance by that neighbor.

Because Respondent Rosemary Hillebold refused to renew Complainant Stover’s
lease, Complainant Stover had to continue her search for housing.

After Complainant Stover located housing in or around mid-January 2005,
Complainant Stover advised Respondent Rosemary Hillebold of her intent to vacate
her unit at the end of February. During this conversation, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold indicated to Complainant Stover that “New Lenox is changing,” but that it
was a “slow process.” Respondent Rosemary Hillebold further stated that she had
nothing against “those people,” but that she preferred that they not live in her
building. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold continued by commenting, “You don’t
know how it was back then, they were given everything.”

2 Tenants Jason and Missy Rain lived at the subject property from November 2003 to July 2005.
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On or about March 5, 2005, Complainant Stover and Mr. Durden vacated the subject
property.

As a result of Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s discriminatory conduct,
Complainant Stover telephoned local attorneys regarding the discrimination. One of
the attorneys she spoke with referred Complainant Stover to Complainant SSHC.

In or around February 2005, in response to Complainant Stover’s complaint about
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s discriminatory conduct, Complainant SSHC
conducted housing testing on the subject property. Between at least February 1,
2005, and March 24, 2005, Complainant SSHC conducted 8 fair housing tests in
connection with the subject property, utilizing 5 black testers and 3 white testers. All
testers were female.

The investigation revealed that Respondents advertised units for rent by posting a “for
rent” sign outside the subject property between February 2005 and March 2005.

On February 1, 2005, Black Tester #1 telephoned (815) 478-4751, which was the
phone number advertised on the “for rent” sign, and left a message asking for a return
call regarding the apartment for rent.

On February 3, 2005, after she received no response to her first call, Black Tester #1
again telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke with a woman who identified herself as
“Rose,” Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. Black Tester #1 indicated that she was
interested in renting an apartment and asked if one was still available. Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold responded that the apartment had been available, but it was not
then available. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold explained that an applicant had filled
out an application the day before and she was waiting for the credit check to go
through. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold took Black Tester #1’s name and phone
number and indicated that she would call her back if the applicant was not approved,
which she would know by the following Saturday.

On February 4, 2005, White Tester #1 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke to a
woman who identified herself as “Rose,” Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. After
White Tester #1 inquired about whether a unit was still available, Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold indicated that she was not positive, as she had an application for
the unit that she was checking on. The tester asked for information about the unit
and, in response, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold stated that it was a two-bedroom
unit that rented for $700, with a $700 security deposit. White Tester #1 then inquired
about whether there was an application fee or credit check. In response, Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold stated, “no.”

After Respondent Rosemary Hillebold explained the amenities, White Tester #1
informed her that the unit would be for her and her boyfriend, and asked Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold if she needed an appointment to view the unit. Respondent
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Rosemary Hillebold said that was “fine” and stated that she could meet the tester at
the property in an hour.

Later that morning, White Tester #1 arrived at the subject property and met with
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. While Respondent Rosemary Hillebold showed the
tester apartment 2D and explained the amenities, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold
indicated that that was the only available unit at that time and stated that if the tester
wanted to come back with her boyfriend to view the unit, to call her and let her know.
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold told the tester to call her in a few days, when she
should know about the other applicant.

On Monday, February 7, 2005, Black Tester #1 again telephoned Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold. Black Tester #1 identified herself and reminded Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold that she was the applicant that phoned her on Thursday and
asked her if the apartment was still available. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold
informed Black Tester #1 that she had rented the apartment. Black Tester #1 thanked
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold and the call ended.

In Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s Answer to the HUD complaint, she asserts that
she received a phone call on or about February 1, 2005 from somebody at HUD. She
alleges that this same person called her back on February 3, 2005, and denies
informing this person that a unit had been rented.

On February 7, 2005, Black Tester #2 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke to an
unidentified elderly woman. Black Tester #2 inquired about the availability of a unit
and the woman responded that she “believed” the unit was going to be rented. After
Black Tester #2 asked the woman if she would have another unit available, the
woman responded that she was not sure. The tester then indicated that the woman
mentioned that a few leases were due in April 2005. Black Tester #2 informed the
woman she would call back in April.

On February 8, 2005, White Tester #1 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke with
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. After White Tester #1 reminded Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold that she had viewed the unit on Friday, the tester asked if the unit
was still available. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold indicated that the unit was still
available and that the applicant she was waiting on did not return her call. The tester
informed Respondent Rosemary Hillebold that she needed to speak with her
boyfriend about viewing the unit. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold told the tester to
call her back. On February 11, 2005, White Tester #1 phoned Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold and informed her that she and her boyfriend decided to rent another
apartment.

On March 11, 2005, Black Tester #3 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke with an
unidentified woman. Black Tester #3 asked the woman about the apartment for rent.
In response, the woman stated that she had just rented the apartment the night before,
March 10, 2005. The tester then asked the woman if she would have any other units
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available soon. The woman replied that she might have one in a couple of months, but
not before then. The tester thanked the woman and the call ended.

In Respondents’ answer to the HUD complaint, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold
admits speaking with a person on March 11, 2005, and admits informing the person
that the apartment was rented at the time of the phone call, but denies informing the
caller that she did not expect vacancies for a couple of months.

On March 11, 2005, White Tester #2 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke with an
unidentified woman. White Tester #2 inquired about the availability of an apartment
for rent. The woman indicated that the apartment was available and quoted a monthly
rent of $700, plus a one-month security deposit. The tester then asked if she could
view the unit and the woman said “sure.” An appointment to view the unit was made
for the following morning.

The following morning, March 12, 2005, White Tester #2 arrived at the subject
property and met with a woman who identified herself as “Rose,” Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold.  After the two entered the apartment, the tester asked
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold when the unit would be available. Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold indicated “right now.” The tester noticed that the unit was
vacant and had been recently cleaned. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold then showed
the tester the laundry facilities and a small fenced-in yard. Before the tester left,
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed the tester to call if she was interested.

In Respondents’ answer to the HUD complaint, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold
admits showing a unit to a prospective tenant; however, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold stated that the unit she showed was already rented but was unoccupied.
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold also denies that she told the tester that another
apartment was available immediately. Instead, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold
contends that she informed the tester that another apartment was being renovated, but
was not yet available.

On March 12, 2005, Black Tester #4 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke with a
woman who identified herself as “Rose,” Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. Black
Tester #4 asked Respondent Rosemary Hillebold if the apartment was still available.
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold replied, “yes, it is still available but we have a lot of
work to be done with it.” In response to the tester’s question about how long it
would be until the unit would be available for rent, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold
stated, “It will probably take several weeks.” During the course of the conversation,
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold told the tester that the unit rented for $700 a month,
with a $700 security deposit. Black Tester #4 then asked if there was a credit check.
In response, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed the tester that there was a
credit check, but there was no charge. The tester inquired if any other vacancies might
be coming up. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold responded that she did not know of
any. The tester stated that she would call back in a few weeks.
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On March 16, 2005, Black Tester #5 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke with a
woman who identified herself as “Rose,” Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. Black
Tester #5 inquired about the availability of a unit and in response, Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold indicated that a unit was available. An appointment to view the
unit was made for March 19, 2005.

On March 19, 2005, Black Tester #5 arrived at the subject property for the scheduled
appointment and met with a woman who identified herself as “Rose,” Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold. During the onsite visit, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold showed
Black Tester #5 two units. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold told Black Tester #5 that
the first unit was rented, but the tenant had not moved in, and a second unit was still
under renovation and not yet available. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold told the
tester that she wanted to show the tester the recently renovated unit so she would have
a better idea of how the other unit would look after the renovation.

After viewing the vacant unit that had already been rented, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold showed the tester the unit undergoing renovation. The tester noticed that no
work had been completed on that unit. During the course of the showing, the tester
inquired about the monthly rent and whether a security deposit was required. In
response, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold quoted a monthly rent of $700, in addition
to a $1,000 security deposit. The tester then asked about the laundry facilities.
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold replied that there were two washing machines and a
dryer in the basement. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold then informed the tester that
if she were interested she would get her an application. The tester stated that she
would talk to her husband and get back to her. The tester thanked Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold and left. The tester was not shown the laundry facilities.

On March 23, 2005, White Tester #3 telephoned (815) 478-4751 and spoke with a
woman who identified herself as “Rose,” Respondent Rosemary Hillebold. After
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold questioned how many bedrooms the tester was
interested in, White Tester #3 responded two bedrooms. Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold indicated that a unit was available. During the course of the phone call,
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold told the tester that the rent was $700 a month with a
one-month security deposit, $300 less than that quoted to Black Tester #5. The tester
inquired about how soon the unit would be available and Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold responded in about two weeks as she was having major work done to the
unit. An appointment to view the unit was scheduled for the following day, March
24, 2005.

The following day, on March 24, 2005, White Tester #3 arrived at the subject
property for the scheduled appointment and met with Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold. After the two proceeded to the second floor, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold knocked on a unit door and opened it. The tester was able to see inside the
unit and could see that the unit was undergoing renovation. Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold did not show this unit to the tester; instead, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold showed the tester a vacant unit that had just been renovated. During the
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showing of the unit, the tester asked if the apartment was ready to move into. In
response, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold indicated that it was, “all set to go.”
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold continued by informing the tester that the unit across
the hall would probably be ready in two weeks. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold then
offered to show the tester the laundry room, in addition to the fenced-in yard. The
tester thanked Respondent Rosemary Hillebold for her time and left.

During the HUD investigation, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold asserted that she
received a number of calls from black prospective applicants (testers); when she was
asked how she knew they were black, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold indicated that
somehow she “just knew;” that it was “something” in their speech.

The investigation further revealed that in May 2005, a prospective bona fide black
female applicant, Erin King, applied for a two-bedroom unit at the subject property.
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed Ms. King that although two units remained
empty, only one unit was available. Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed Ms.
King that the unit rented for $750 a month and that there was a $1,000 security
deposit required. In addition, Ms. King paid a $30 application fee. At no time did
Ms. King receive a call from Respondent Rosemary Hillebold regarding her
application.

Complainant SSHC’s testing evidence revealed that both the white and black testers
attempted to apply for a unit at the subject property. Specifically, on February 7,
2005, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed Black Tester #1 that she had rented
the apartment. On the same day, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed Black
Tester #2 that she “believed” the unit was going to be rented. However, on February
8, 2005, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed the white tester that a unit was
still available.

Furthermore, the testing evidence revealed that on March 11, 2005, Respondent
Rosemary Hillebold informed Black Tester #3 that she had just rented the apartment
the night before, but then informed White Tester #2, an hour later, that the apartment
was still available.

Based on the abovementioned testing evidence, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold
represented to the black testers that the apartment was not available for rental when
such dwelling was in fact available. After Respondent Rosemary Hillebold informed
the black testers that the unit was unavailable for rent, she informed the white testers
that the apartment was still available for rent. Furthermore, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold treated the black and white testers differently by informing Black Tester #5
that she required a $1,000 security deposit, in addition to Ms. King, a bona fide black
applicant, who was also quoted a $1,000 security deposit. None of the white testers
were quoted more than a $700 security deposit.

As a result of Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s discriminatory conduct,
Complainant Stover has suffered damages including, but not limited to: economic

10
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loss, emotional distress, inconvenience, embarrassment, humiliation and the loss of a
housing opportunity. Complainant Stover incurred moving costs, application fees, a
higher security deposit, fees for the transfer of utilities, and increased transportation
costs because of Respondents’ non-renewal of her lease.

Complainant Stover enjoyed living at the subject property, as she had resided there
for approximately 11 years before she was required to vacate her unit. Complainant
Stover anticipated that she would continue residing at the subject property.
Complainant Stover enjoyed the subject property because it was located in a smaller
apartment complex and was located in a safe neighborhood. In contrast, the Carol
Stream apartment she moved to is located in an unsafe neighborhood and the
apartment complex she currently resides in is substantially larger and more congested
than the subject property. Complainant Stover felt safe and secure at the subject
property as she lived there since 1994.

Complainant Stover experienced an increase in stress and anxiety levels and became
an “emotional wreck.” As a result, not only did Complainant Stover’s family
relationship continue to negatively impact her, Complainant Stover and Mr. Durden’s
relationship also suffered as a result of having to vacate the subject property.

As a result of Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s  discriminatory conduct,
Complainant SSHC has suffered frustration of its mission and diversion of its
resources as Complainant SSHC’s time and money has been deflected from housing
counseling to efforts directed against Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s
discriminatory conduct. Further, Complainant SSHC’s members and clients have
been deprived of the opportunity to rent housing and enjoy the benefits of living in
integrated housing from Respondents because of their race. In addition, Complainant
SSHC’s ability to counsel and place clients has been undermined as a result of
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s discriminatory conduct. Furthermore,
Complainant SSHC’s corporate mission has been frustrated by Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold’s housing practices, which prevent black clients from obtaining rental
housing.

Respondent Rosemary Hillebold committed unlawful discrimination by refusing to
renew Complainant Stover’s lease based on Mr. Durden’s race, African-American,
making the dwelling unavailable in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a).

By charging Complainant Stover an additional monthly fee after Mr. Durden moved
into Complainant Stover’s unit, and by not previously charging Complainant Stover a
fee when her white ex-fiancé lived with her, or any other tenant a fee for roommates
or occupants in excess of one, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold committed unlawful
discrimination in the terms or conditions of the rental of a dwelling because of race,
in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b).

By quoting a much higher security deposit of $1,000 to a black tester and to the bona
fide prospective renter, Ms. King, compared to all the white testers who were quoted

11
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only $700; by informing Black Tester #4 that there was a credit check, but informing
the white testers that there was no credit check or application fee; and by charging
Ms. King a $30 application fee when Respondent Rosemary Hillebold indicated there
was no application fee, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold committed unlawful
discrimination in the terms or conditions of the rental of a dwelling because of race,
in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b).

By making derogatory statements to Complainant Stover that she would not show
units at the building while Mr. Durden was at the property and by informing
Complainant Stover that she had nothing against "those people™ but that she preferred
that they not live in her building, Respondent Rosemary Hillebold committed
unlawful discrimination by making statements indicating a preference, limitation and
discrimination based on race, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c).

By misrepresenting the unavailability of a dwelling to Complainant SSHC’s black
testers on February 7, 2005, and March 11, 2005, while representing the availability
to the white testers on February 8, 2005, and March 11, 2005, Respondent Rosemary
Hillebold discriminated against Complainant SSHC’s black testers in violation of 42
U.S.C. § 3604(d).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban

Development, through the Office of the General Counsel, and pursuant to Section
3610(g)(2)(A) of the Act, hereby charges the Respondents with engaging in
discriminatory housing practices in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a)—(d) of the Act, and
prays that an order be issued that:

1.

Declares that the discriminatory housing practices of Respondents as set forth above
violate the Fair Housing Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 88 3601 et seq.;

Enjoins Respondents, their agents, employees, and successors, and all other persons
in active concert or participation with any of them from discriminating because of
race against any person in any aspect of the purchase or rental of a dwelling;

Awards such damages as will fully compensate Complainant Joan Stover and
Complainant SSHC, aggrieved persons, for their actual damages caused by
Respondent Rosemary Hillebold’s discriminatory conduct pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §
3604(a)-(d); and

Awards a civil penalty against each Respondent for each violation of the Act
committed, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8 3612(g)(3).
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The Secretary of HUD further prays for additional relief as may be appropriate
under 42 U.S.C. § 3612(g)(3).

Respectfully submitted,

Courtney Minor Barbara Sliwa
Regional Counsel Trial Attorney
Region V U.S. Department of Housing and

Urban Development
Office of Regional Counsel, Region V

Lisa M. Danna-Brennan 77 West Jackson Boulevard, Room 2617
Supervisory Attorney-Advisor Chicago, Illinois 60604-3507
for Fair Housing, Region V (312) 353-4681, Ext. 2613

(312) 886-4944 (FAX)

Date: SEPTEMBER 25, 2006
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